IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC09-555

DOLAN DARLING, A/K/A SEAN SMITH

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MARK S. GRUBER
Florida Bar No. 0330541
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
813-740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(1) Fla. Const.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(f)(5)(B) provides that a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on postconviction claims for relief unless the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief. In reviewing a trial court's summary denial of postconviction relief without an evidentiary hearing, this Court must accept all allegations in the motion as true to the extent they are not conclusively rebutted by the record. To uphold the trial court's summary denial, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record. *Hodges v. State*, 885 So.2d 338 (Fla. 2004); *McLin v. State*,

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Baze v. Rees announces a standard for evaluating the constitutionality of lethal injection procedures that embraces the concept of risk, unlike the inherent cruelty standard that this Court established in *Jones* and has since applied to Florida's lethal injection method of execution in *Sims*, *Schwab* and *Lightbourne*.

In part because a risk standard requires greater scrutiny of DOC procedures, Fla. Stat. §945.10 (2006), which conceals the identity of the participants in an execution, is unconstitutional.

Fla. Stat. §27.702 and 27.7001, which, as interpreted by this Court in *Diaz*, prevent CCRC attorneys from filing civil rights challenges to Florida's lethal injection method of execution by way of 42 U.S.C. §1983, are unconstitutional. The Court's rationale in *Diaz*, which was that CCRC clients seeking to file an action challenging lethal injection may do so by way of a petition for a writ of habeas corpus under 28 U.S.C. § 2254, has been undermined by recent decisions in the U.S. Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals.

ARGUMENT I

NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT FLORIDA'S LETHAL INJECTION METHOD OF EXECUTION VIOLATES THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT

The newly discovered evidence Darling relies on has come to light since the Diaz execution in December of 2006 and its aftermath. As stated in the motion, it comes from the following sources:

October 2006 when the Florida Department Corrections' (hereinafter FDOC) secret protocol was made public; December 2006, when news reports carried accounts of Angel Diaz's execution; evidence made public in 2007 about FDOC procedures, training and implementation of lethal injection and the undue risks of the procedures and practice presented to The Governor's Commission on the Administration of Lethal Injection (hereinafter Commission) and contained in their Report; the May 9, 2007 protocols issued by FDOC, the August 1, 2007 protocols issued by FDOC; FDOC's 2007 response to the Commission's report and testimony presented at hearings conducted by the Honorable Judge Carven Angel, 5th Judicial Circuit, Marion County, in the matter of Lightbourne v. State.

Moreover, an enormous fund of factual information about lethal injection has emerged over the past year that is available through traditional research sources such as law review articles, case authority and the like. Darling alleged with specificity, inter alia, that the current (August 1, 2007) FDOC protocols and their proposed implementation were defective in that:

The executioner need merely be an adult who has undergone a criminal background check and who is sufficiently trained to administer the lethal chemicals. . . The new protocols do not require the "team warden" to obtain the employment records, error rates, and proficiency testing of the execution team members . . . The August 1, 2007 protocols require evidence of written quarterly training sessions but do not specify what should be included in the written record or specify what training was received . . . while the new protocols do require some written records of activities, there is still no written record of when the lethal chemicals begin to flow, nor is there a written printout of the data from the heart monitors . . . clothing and other apparatus used to conceal the identities of the executioners and medically qualified personnel . . . impair the executioners and medically qualified personnel's ability to monitor intravenous infiltration and other potential problems. Deficiencies in the design and set up of the chamber . . . include but are not limited to: inadequate lighting, the placement of the team member administering the lethal chemicals, the length of tubing necessary because of the chamber decision which creates an undue risk executioners will fail to detect difficulty or problems with anesthetic consciousness or intravenous access. Additionally, the syringes are kept in a syringe holder, which is a departure from clinical practice. . . FDOC has also failed to obtain or require the use of a bispectral index monitor to monitor anesthetic depth . . . there is nothing in the new protocols that defines a procedure for notification to the inmate or the inmate's counsel should medical examination reveal any the potential complications with venous access or any other aspect of the lethal injection other than to say that the "team warden" will "resolve the issue." The August 2007 protocols do not address the possible remedies for complications noted in the medical examinations that take place a week prior to the execution. The protocols

merely state that the "team warden" will consult with the other team members that performed the evaluation and "conclude what is the more suitable method for venous access (peripheral or femoral) for the lethal injection process given the individual circumstances of the condemned. Additionally, there is no provision for the inmate to have his own designated independent physician or medically qualified professional present for the examination . . . The provision for Periodic Review and Certificate from the Secretary is insufficient to insure that there will not be a risk of unnecessary pain during the execution procedure. For example, all that is required is that the Secretary of the Department of Corrections certify to the Governor that "the Department is adequately prepared to carry out executions by lethal injection." The Certification is not required to contain how the lethal injection procedure was reviewed, what aspects the Secretary considered in his review of the procedures, or how the Secretary verified that he does in fact have all the "necessary procedures, equipment, facilities, and personnel in place..." In addition, the Certification is to be provided to the inmate and the inmate's counsel, after the review has been completed. There is no provision for the inmate or the inmate's counsel to be present during the actual reviewing process and certification . . . the consciousness assessment required by the protocols falls far short of medical standards. The warden, who is charged with making the consciousness assessment, has no medical expertise beyond that required of a law enforcement officer . . .

Darling also alleged that the protocols and their proposed implementation were defective for failure to draw on the well established fields of risk analysis, quality assurance and medical auditing.

The trial court summarily denied relief, relying inter alia on Henyard v.

State, 992 So.2d 120 (Fla. 2008).

The decisions relied on by the trial court reaffirmed this Court's "inherent cruelty" standard previously articulated in *Jones v. State*, 701 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1997), where the Court reasoned that the "cruelty against which the Constitution protects a convicted man is cruelty inherent in the method of punishment." *Jones, id.*, citing *Louisiana ex rel. Francis v. Resweber*, 329 U.S. 459 (1947).

The *Lightbourne* decision did contain an additional paragraph to the effect that the Court would have denied relief even under some proposed standards involving a measure of "risk" of cruelty rather than "inherent cruelty" which were being urged by Schwab and Lightbourne as well as by other death row prisoners around the country. On April 16, 2008, the United States Supreme Court decided Baze v. Rees, supra. The Baze Court addressed the issue of what constitutional standard should be applied to method of execution cases. In fact, four standards emerged from the various opinions with only two having at least three justices joining. The opinion by Chief Justice Roberts, joined by Justices Kennedy and Alito articulated the standard as a "substantial risk of serious harm". Three other Justices, Breyer, Ginsburg and Souter, proposed a standard that requires a showing of an "untoward, readily avoidable risk of inflicting severe and unnecessary pain." Baze v. Rees, Slip Op. at 11 (Ginsburg, J., dissenting); Baze, at 1 (Breyer, J.,

concurring). At any rate, seven justices adopted some sort of standard involving the concept of risk. The inherent cruelty standard was embraced only by Justices Thomas and Scalia, who concurred in the judgment only because in their view the plurality standard, "along with petitioners' proposed 'unnecessary risk' standard and the dissent's 'untoward risk' standard' were not supported "in the original understanding of the Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause." *Id.* J. Thomas joined by J Scalia concurring in judgment only. This Court's reaffirmation of the Jones inherent cruelty standard in *Schwab* and *Lightbourne*, on which the court below expressly relied, is now in conflict with the plurality opinion in *Baze* and with the position taken by all but two of the members of the Supreme Court.

Schwab and Lightbourne also reaffirmed this Court's decision in Sims v. State, 754 So.2d 657 (Fla. 2000), in which the Court accorded heavy deference to the DOC with regard to virtually every aspect of the lethal injection protocols and the way they are implemented. Justice Thomas declined to join the plurality opinion in Baze in part because, in his view, comparative risk standards "require courts to resolve medical and scientific controversies" that he felt were "beyond judicial ken," and the judiciary should not, as he put it, "micromanage the State's administration of the death penalty in this manner." The language and reasoning he employed are strikingly similar to that expressed by this Court in Sims,

Lightbourne and Schwab. Since those views now represent the losing side, presumably the courts must resolve at least some medical and scientific controversies and engage in at least some management of the administration of the death penalty. A standard that requires the court to assess the risk of severe pain involved in a procedure that admittedly will not cause unconstitutional pain if executed flawlessly necessarily requires the court to exercise greater scrutiny of the DOC's practices than a standard that merely requires determining whether a proposed method of execution is inherently cruel in the abstract.

ARGUMENT II

FLA. STAT. §945.10 (2006) AS IMPLEMENTED BY THE PROTOCOLS, WHICH CONCEALS THE IDENTITY OF THE PARTICIPANTS IN AN EXECUTION, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Section 945.10, Fla. Stat. (2006) exempts from disclosure under Section 24(a), Article I of the Florida Constitution (the right to access public records):

(g) Information which identifies an executioner, or a person prescribing, preparing, compounding, dispensing, or administering a lethal injection.

Access to prisons by the press and public is a constitutional right. *Pell v. U.S. Procunier*, 417 U.S. 817 (1974). This access to prisons has been found to include access to view executions as well, based upon both historical traditions and the functional importance of public access to executions. *California First*

Amendment Coalition v. Woodford, 299 F.3d 868 (C.A.9 2002). The right to view executions includes all parts of the execution, including the manner in which intravenous lines are injected. Id. at 883. The court held that limitations on what parts of the execution were viewed by the public based on safety concerns for the prison staff members involved were not justified. Id. at 880. The court found that the concern that execution team members would be publicly identified and retaliated against was "an overreaction, supported only by questionable speculation." *Id.* Importantly, the court pointed out that numerous high profile individuals are involved with the implementation of executions, including a warden, a governor and judges, and there is a significant history of safety around these publicly known officials. *Id.* at 882. Pennsylvania courts have likewise found safety concerns as a basis for protecting the identity of execution witnesses as wholly unsupported speculation. Travaglia v. Dept. of Corrections, 699 A.2d 1317, 1323 n.5 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1997).

The litany of problems in administering lethal injections to condemned inmates in several states requires the disclosure of the identity of the members of the execution team. Executions carried out by anonymous team members put inmates at unnecessary or foreseeable risk of infliction of pain and violate Due Process. The burden to show Eighth Amendment violations in capital punishment

cases is on the condemned. Without access to the identities of the team members, Atwater is unconstitutionally deprived of his ability to establish a violation. To deprive him of this information violates his rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to ensure his punishment is not cruel and unusual. Likewise, safety concerns for the members of the execution team are purely speculation and run counter to the evidence that far more prominent individuals involved in executions, such as judges, governors, and wardens, have not been the target of any serious or widespread harm. Finally, the cases in Missouri and North Carolina show that merely requiring the involvement of medical personnel is not a sufficient protection. Without access to the identities of these individuals, there is no way for a condemned to determine whether they are competent and qualified to ensure the Eighth Amendment is not violated.

Since the identities of the members of the execution team are protected by statute, there is no way for Atwater to determine whether the involvement of any of these individuals creates a substantial risk of unnecessary pain during a lethal injection procedure. With the mounting evidence of botched executions continuing to grow, this statute deprives Atwater of his due process rights to ensure he is not subject to cruel and unusual punishment and therefore this statue is unconstitutional.

As argued above, the Court's inherent cruelty standard for evaluating the constitutionality of method of execution claims has been superseded by the risk standard in *Baze*, which requires greater scrutiny of the DOC's methods. *Bryan* should therefore be re-evaluated in light of *Baze*.

ARGUMENT III

FLA. STAT. §27.702, WHICH AS INTERPRETED BY THIS COURT PROHIBITS CCRC FROM FILING A §1983 FEDERAL RIGHTS SUIT CHALLENGING LETHAL INJECTION, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Although the statutory scheme creating the CCRCs does not speak specifically to actions brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983, this Court has held that CCRC lawyers are prohibited from bringing such an action to challenge a method of execution by (current) §27.7001 Fla. Stat. (prohibiting CCRC lawyers from representing capital defendants in "retrials, resentencings, proceedings commenced under chapter 940 [executive clemency], or civil litigation.") *State ex rel. Butterworth v. Kenny*, 714 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1998). Fla. Stat. §27.702(1) states that "the CCRC counsel shall file only those postconviction or collateral actions authorized by statute."

In *Diaz v. State*, 945 So.2d 1136 (Fla. 2006) the Court addressed the argument raised here and disposed of it this way:

Diaz has also filed a petition under the Court's constitutional all writs authority, in which he claims that section 27.702, Florida Statute (2006), is unconstitutional both facially and as applied in his case. We find no merit to this claim.

Section 27.702 specifies the duties of Capital Collateral Regional Counsel in representing individuals convicted and sentenced to death in Florida in "collateral actions challenging the legality of the judgment and sentence imposed." Id. § 27.702(1). Pursuant to the statute, CCRC attorneys "shall file only those postconviction or collateral actions authorized by statute." This Court has held that the "postconviction or collateral actions authorized by statute" do not include civil rights actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 . *State ex rel. Butterworth v. Kenny*, 714 So.2d 404, 410 (Fla.1998).

Diaz contends that his due process rights have been violated because his CCRC attorneys cannot file a section 1983 action in federal court to challenge Florida's lethal injection procedures and lethal injection as a method of execution. Diaz further alleges that he has no other avenue available to bring such a federal challenge in light of the holding in *Hill v. McDonough*, ---U.S. ----, 126 S.Ct. 2096, 165 L.Ed.2d 44 (2006). We conclude that Diaz has misinterpreted the *Hill* decision.

In *Hill*, the defendant filed a federal action under section 1983 to challenge the lethal injection procedure as cruel and unusual punishment. The federal district court and the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals both denied Hill's claim, holding that his section 1983 claim was the functional equivalent of a habeas petition. Because *Hill* had sought federal habeas relief earlier, his section 1983 action was deemed successive and thus procedurally barred. *Hill*, 126 S.Ct. at 2097. However, the United States Supreme Court reversed and held that a challenge

to the constitutionality of the lethal injection procedure did not have to be brought in a habeas petition, but could proceed under section 1983. *Id.* at 2098. However, contrary to Diaz's assertions here, the United States Supreme Court did not hold that a constitutional challenge to lethal injection procedures could not be brought under a habeas petition.

Accordingly, Diaz did have an alternative avenue for challenging the lethal injection procedure in federal court, but did not utilize it. In 1999, Diaz filed a federal habeas petition in federal district court. The petition was pending until January 2004. On January 14, 2000, section 922.105 was amended to provide for lethal injection as the method of execution in Florida. See ch. 2000-2, § 3, at 4, Laws of Fla. Also, while his federal habeas petition was pending, Diaz filed two habeas petitions in this Court [citing *Diaz v. Moore*, 828 So.2d 385 (Fla.2001); *Diaz v. Crosby*, 869 So.2d 538 (Fla.2003)].

Under 28 U.S.C. § 2254, an application for a writ of habeas corpus in a federal court may be granted if the applicant has exhausted the remedies available in the state courts. Thus, had Diaz raised a lethal injection claim in either of his two state habeas petitions that were filed after lethal injection was adopted as the method of execution in Florida, he could have then raised the claim in his initial federal habeas petition that was pending from 1999 until 2004. However, Diaz did not utilize this avenue that was available to him. Thus, it was due to his own lack of diligence that he missed the opportunity to challenge execution by lethal injection in a federal habeas action. Accordingly, we find no violation of Diaz's due process rights and no basis for striking down section 27.702 as unconstitutional. We deny Diaz's petition for all writs relief.

Id. (footnotes omitted).

After this Court denied a motion to stay his imminent execution in *Schwab* v. *State*, 973 So.2d 427 (Fla. 2007), Mark Schwab applied for leave to file a successive §2254 petition challenging Florida's lethal injection method of execution. The Eleventh Circuit held:

Even if such a claim were properly cognizable in an initial federal habeas petition, instead of in a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 proceeding, see generally Hill v. McDonough, 547 U.S. 573, 126 S.Ct. 2096, 2099, 165 L.Ed.2d 44 (2006); Nelson v. Campbell, 541 U.S. 637, 124 S.Ct. 2117, 158 L.Ed.2d 924 (2004), Rutherford v. McDonough, 466 F.3d 970, 973 (11th Cir. 2006) (observing that pre-Nelson circuit law requiring challenges to lethal injection procedures to be brought in a § 2254 proceeding is "no longer valid in light of the Supreme Court's Hill decision"), this claim cannot serve as a proper basis for a second or successive habeas petition. It cannot because it neither relies on a new rule of constitutional law made retroactive to cases on collateral review by the Supreme Court, 28 U.S.C. § 2244(b)(2)(A), nor involves facts relating to guilt or innocence, see 28 U.S.C. § 2244(b)(2)(B)(ii).

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