IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-555

DOLAN DARLING A/K/A SEAN SMITH

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS Fla. Bar No. 410519 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457

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

Officers from the Orange County Sheriff's Office responded to the scene and secured items of evidence found in the bathroom, which included a lotion bottle, a pair of panties, and a pink throw pillow. The pillow had a blackened area and a gunshot hole through the sides. There was blood spatter on the door of the closet, and blood present in the closet area. Two AmSouth Bank envelopes were found which contained cash totaling approximately twelve hundred dollars and a shoe box was discovered which contained one thousand dollars. There was also a wallet which held fifty-eight dollars. Jewelry located in boxes appeared to be undisturbed.

An officer who had canvassed Grace's neighborhood to determine whether there were witnesses with information regarding the murder testified that he had contacted Darling on October 30, the day after the murder. Darling's apartment was located just north of Grace's apartment. In response to the investigating officer's inquiry, Darling had said that "he was working and didn't know anything of the incident."

Dr. William Robert Anderson of the Orlando Medical Examiner's Office testified at trial. His testimony included a discussion concerning the "defect" in the pillow, particularly the "cloud of soot" from the "burning gun powder" left on the pillow as the "bullet comes out." The gun was fired at close range because he observed "in the victim only a small amount of soot material. But ... on the pillow there is a significant amount of that soot material." Dr. Anderson indicated that "the end of the weapon was up against that pillow ... fairly tightly." He also testified that the "defect in the middle is consistent with a bullet passing through ..., creating a tear." When the doctor first saw Grace, "[r]igor mortis was complete," and he estimated that she "was probably dead at least six hours from the time we saw her, which was about seven."

Dr. Anderson testified that the bullet entered "the right back of the head." Grace had an abrasion there "consistent with something having been up against the cloth transferring energy across to the skin and creating that." "That pillow" was consistent with the abrasion. The doctor found that Grace had "some vaginal injuries, but nothing that would make her bleed significantly." There was "[a] lot of bleeding ... inside the brain," but "she's gonna die pretty quick." He stated that "[c]onsciousness would probably not be more than a few seconds," and that "[s]he would have no motor activity" or any "ability to move anything at that point." The doctor stated that "the rapidity [with] which she dies" is "one of the reasons she probably didn't bleed."

The doctor stated that there was "seminal purulent" in Grace's vaginal area and bruising on the "back of the elbows ... consistent with some moving around." There was "a hemorrhage," which "means that took place when circulation was alive." The vaginal area abrasions were "consistent with vaginal trauma from penetration of some object, penial, digital, some other object." The doctor pointed out that the "tear of the labia majora, which is a very sensitive area" was "quite painful," adding: "This would not be consistent with consensual sex, in that the pain would interrupt the activity. It would be painful enough that

consensual sex would not apply after that point." The doctor observed that "there wasn't anything in the labia that would explain those abrasions other than trauma." [FN1] The victim's "rectal area" had "some tears," which were caused by "[d]igital penetration, penial penetration, some trauma." The doctor opined that this, too, was painful. He further indicated that the "gunshot wound to the head with the injuries ... described" was the cause of Grace's death.

FN1. Dr. Anderson stated that he had "seen many, many sexual assault victims that don't have ... defense wounds...." He observed, further, that in "[t]he majority of the cases of sexual battery ... they don't put up a struggle."

Photographs and records of fingerprints found in Grace's apartment were developed and submitted to a comparison expert. A photograph of fingerprints from the lotion bottle was developed, and admitted into evidence as Exhibit 14. At trial, the State's expert in the detection, enhancement, and recording of fingerprints opined that the fingerprint on the lotion bottle had been there for less than one year. The State's expert in the area of fingerprint comparison compared the fingerprints on Exhibit 14 with fingerprints obtained from Darling. He testified at trial that he found a print on the lotion bottle which matched that of Darling's right thumb.

Additionally, David Baer, a Senior Crime Laboratory Analyst with FDLE, testified that the DNA in the semen sample from the victim matched the DNA from Darling's blood sample.

The jury found Darling guilty of capital murder and armed sexual battery.

Darling raised eleven points on direct appeal. He claimed that the trial court

reversibly erred in:

- (1) denying Darling's motion for judgment of acquittal;
- (2) admitting DNA evidence;
- (3) not allowing defense counsel to comment on the State's failure to exclude other suspects;
- (4) limiting Darling's *voir dire* examination during jury selection;
- (5) denying Darling's requested instruction regarding circumstantial evidence;
- (6) precluding defense counsel's rebuttal closing argument where the State had waived its closing argument;
- (7) refusing to allow Darling to argue residual doubt as a mitigator; and
- (8) denying Darling's requested special penalty phase jury instructions.

Additionally, Darling asserted that:

- (9) the absence of a complete record on appeal deprived him of adequate appellate review;
- (10) his death sentence is disproportionate; and
- (11) his death sentence violates the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations, 596 U.N.T.S. 261 (Dec. 24, 1969) (the "Vienna Convention").

Darling v. State, 808 So. 2d 145 (Fla. 2003).

This Court affirmed the convictions and sentences. Darling filed a petition for

writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court which was denied October 7, 2002. *Darling v. Florida*, 537 U.S. 848 (2002). Darling filed a Motion for PostConviction Relief on September 22, 2003, raising thirty-eight (38) claims:

- (1) State agencies withheld public records;
- (2) Counsel was ineffective for allowing Juror Wilson to serve on the jury;
- (3) Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to a fingerprint on a lotion bottle;
- (4) Counsel was ineffective in the penalty phase for failing to ensure adequate mental health exam and present mental health mitigation;
- (5) The jury was misled by comments and instructions which diluted their sense of responsibility;
- (6) Jury instructions limited mitigation; counsel was ineffective;
- (7) The prosecutor made improper closing remarks; counsel was ineffective;
- (8) The jury was told a death recommendation was required; counsel was ineffective;
- (9) Counsel failed to obtain an adequate mental health evaluation in violation of *Ake v. Oklahoma*;
- (10) Cumulative effects of ineffective assistance of counsel and erroneous trial court rulings;
- (11) Newly discovered evidence;
- (12) The State withheld material evidence;

- (13) Counsel was ineffective in *voir dire*;
- (14) Improper prosecutor arguments; counsel was ineffective;
- (15) Counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and present mitigating evidence;
- (16) Darling is innocent of the death penalty;
- (17) Darling was absent during critical stages of the trial;
- (18) Penalty phase instructions shifted the burden; counsel was ineffective;
- (19) Jury instruction on expert testimony was erroneous; counsel was ineffective;
- (20) Jury instructions on aggravating circumstances erroneous; counsel was ineffective;
- (21) The State introduced nonstatutory aggravating factors; counsel was ineffective;
- (22) Jury was misled by comments and instructions that diluted its sense of responsibility; counsel was ineffective;
- (23) Darling could not interview jurors; counsel was ineffective;
- (24) The prosecutor overbroadly and vaguely argued aggravating circumstances; counsel was ineffective;
- (25) Electrocution is cruel and unusual;
- (26) Florida's death penalty is arbitrary and capricious;
- (27) Darling was prejudiced by pre-trial publicity; counsel was ineffective;

- (28) The trial court erred in finding mitigating circumstances;
- (29) The sentencing order does not reflect an independent weighing;
- (30) The record on direct appeal was incomplete;
- (31) Excessive security measures or shackling; counsel was ineffective;
- (32) The judge and jury relied on misinformation; counsel was ineffective;
- (33) Jury instruction on majority vote of jury was erroneous; counsel was ineffective;
- (34) Darling's death sentence is predicated on an automatic aggravating circumstance; counsel was ineffective;
- (35) Ring v. Arizona;
- (36) Counsel was ineffective for failing to request an instruction and present evidence of parole ineligibility;
- (37) Counsel was ineffective for failing to hire experts and challenge scientific findings of FDLE regarding DNA;
- (38) Darling's trial was fraught with error.

The trial court issued an order granting the State's motion to strike and summarily denied claims 11, 12, 14-34, and 36 as shell claims. The trial court issued a separate order summarily denying certain claims and set other claims for an evidentiary hearing. The claims set for evidentiary hearing were: 1, 2, 3, 4 (merged with 15), 10

(merged with 38), and 37. The evidentiary hearing was held April 26-29, May 3 and May 7, 2004. Relief was denied on November 1, 2004. Darling appealed, raising 10 issues:

- (1) trial counsel failed to adequately investigate and present mitigating evidence;
- (2) counsel was ineffective at the penalty phase for failing to challenge a prior conviction;
- (3) the trial court erred in excluding the testimony of the attorney who represented the Defendant in the prior conviction;
- (4) the trial court erred in ruling on public records regarding DNA;
- (5) counsel was ineffective in challenging the DNA evidence;
- (6) counsel was ineffective for failing to object to a photograph of a fingerprint;
- (7) Defendant was denied his right to an individualized sentencing;
- (8) trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object when the jury was told a death recommendation was required.

Darling v. State, 966 So. 2d 366, 376 (Fla. 2007).

On November 1, 2005, Darling submitted a petition for writ of habeas corpus in this Court alleging four claims:

- (1) Darling was denied effective assistance of counsel and access to the courts in the taxi-carjacking matter;
- (2) Darling's counsel on direct appeal was ineffective for abandoning claims which had been raised and preserved during trial;

- (3) execution by lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment; and
- (4) Darling's execution will constitute cruel and unusual punishment because he may be incompetent at the time of execution.

This Court denied all relief on both the postconviction appeal and the petition for habeas corpus. *Darling v. State*, 966 So. 2d 366, 375-376 (Fla. 2007).

Darling filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion on November 8, 2007, which was amended on October 6, 2008. (R 1-35, 153-176). The State responded on November 21, 2007. (R 36-65). The trial judge entered an order denying relief on February 20, 2009, which was amended on March 24, 2009. (R 177-182, 189-194). This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a successive Rule 3.851 motion. Claims 2 and 3 are time-barred/procedurally barred. No issue raised herein has merit. Darling acknowledges adverse authority. (Initial Brief at 1). This Court has repeatedly denied the claims raised herein, and the lower court judge properly followed this Court's established precedent.

STANDARD OF REVIEW ON SUCCESSIVE RULE 3.851 MOTIONS

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 governs the timeliness of, and necessity of an evidentiary hearing on, successive postconviction motions in final capital cases. Rule 3.851(d)(1) bars a postconviction motion filed more than one year after a judgment and sentence are final. An exception to this rule permits otherwise untimely motions if the movant alleges that "the facts on which the claim is predicated were unknown to the movant or the movant's attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(A). Rule 3.851(f)(5)(B) permits denial of a successive postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing "[i]f the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief."

This Court's precedent provides the criteria for obtaining a new capital penalty phase based on newly discovered evidence. In addition to demonstrating that the

evidence could not have been discovered previously through the exercise of due diligence, the defendant must establish that the newly discovered evidence probably would have produced a life sentence. *Ventura v. State*, 794 So. 2d 553, 571 (Fla. 2001); see also *Jones v. State*, 591 So. 2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991) ("[T]he newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial."); *Scott v. Dugger*, 604 So. 2d 465, 468 (Fla. 1992) ("The *Jones* standard is also applicable where the issue is whether a life or death sentence should have been imposed.").

CLAIM I

FLORIDA'S LETHAL INJECTION METHOD OF EXECUTION IS CONSTITUTIONAL

Darling raises this issue based on the "newly discovered evidence" of the Diaz execution in December 2006. Darling also argues that *Baze v. Rees*, 551 U.S. ____, 128 S.Ct. 1520, 170 L.Ed. 420 (2008), requires reconsideration of this Court's

This habeas claim was presented to the Court in connection with facts existing prior to the execution of Angel Diaz on December 13, 2006. No events that may have occurred in connection with the Diaz execution have been considered as part of this proceeding.

Darling v. State, 966 So.2d 366 (Fla. 2007).

¹ Darling's previous Rule 3.851 appeal was denied July 12, 2007; however, this Court indicated that:

precedent. The same arguments were recently addressed by this Court in *Marek v*. *State*, 8 So. 3d 1123 (Fla. 2009), and this Court held:

Marek's next claim challenges the constitutionality of Florida's lethal injection procedures. We have repeatedly rejected similar claims and have upheld the constitutionality of Florida's lethal injection procedures. See Tompkins v. State, 994 So. 2d 1072, 1081 (Fla. 2008), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 1305, 173 L. Ed. 2d 482 (2009); Power v. State, 992 So. 2d 218, 220-21 (Fla. 2008); Sexton v. State, 997 So. 2d 1073, 1089 (Fla. 2008); Schwab v. State, 969 So. 2d 318, 321-25 (Fla. 2007), cert. denied, 128 S. Ct. 2486, 171 L. Ed. 2d 777 (2008); Lightbourne v. McCollum, 969 So. 2d 326, 349-53 (Fla. 2007), cert. denied, 128 S. Ct. 2485, 171 L. Ed. 2d 777 (2008). We also have held the procedures constitutional under the requirements of *Baze v. Rees*, 128 S. Ct. 1520, 170 L. Ed. 2d 420 (2008). See Ventura v. State, 2 So. 3d 194, 200 (Fla. 2009) ("Florida's current lethal-injection protocol passes muster under any of the risk-based standards considered by the Baze Court (and would easily satisfy the intent-based standard advocated by Justices Thomas and Scalia)."), petition for cert. filed, No. 08-10098 (U.S. Apr. 16, 2009); Henyard v. State, 992 So. 2d 120, 130 (Fla. 2008), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 28, 171 L. Ed. 2d 930 (2008). Marek has not presented any reason why we should not follow the same course in his case.

As in *Marek*, Darling has not presented any reason this Court should deviate from established precedent. The trial judge cited *Henyard*, *Schwab*, *and Lightbourne*, properly following this Court's precedent.

² The petition for writ of certiorari was denied June 22, 2009. *Ventura v. Florida*, ___U.S. ____, S.Ct., 174 L.Ed.2d 562 (U.S. June 22, 2009).

CLAIMS II and III

SECTIONS 945.10 AND 27.702, FLORIDA STATUTES ARE CONSTITUTIONAL

The claim regarding Sections 945.10 and 27.702, Florida Statutes, are time barred/procedurally barred and have no merit. Darling makes no argument regarding his failure to raise these issues in his prior Rule 3.851 motion. Darling did This Court stated in *Cox v. State*, 5 So. 3d 659 (Fla. 2009):

We have consistently rejected each of these claims. See, e.g., Ventura v. State, 2 So. 3d 194, 34 Fla. L. Weekly S71 (Fla. Jan. 29, 2009); Tompkins v. State, 994 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 2008), cert. denied, No. 08-8614, 129 S. Ct. 1305, 173 L. Ed. 2d 482, 2009 U.S. LEXIS 1008 (U.S. Feb. 11, 2009); Henyard v. State, 992 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 2008), cert. denied, 129 S. Ct. 28, 171 L. Ed. 2d 930 (2008); Lightbourne v. McCollum, 969 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 2007), cert. denied, 128 S. Ct. 2485, 171 L. Ed. 2d 777 (2008); Provenzano v. State, 761 So. 2d 1097, 1099 (Fla. 2000); Bryan v. State, 753 So. 2d 1244, 1250 (Fla. 2000); State ex rel. Butterworth v. Kenny, 714 So. 2d 404, 410 (Fla. 1998).

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